STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**RECEIVED**  
**Mar 01 2021**  
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Richland County

DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOE LEWIS BUSBY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001796

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred where it admitted evidence obtained pursuant to a search warrant where the affiant relied on information from another officer, and where the search warrant affidavit and affiant's supplemental testimony were imprecise and conclusory, since the magistrate lacked sufficient information to determine probable cause?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On July 16, 2015, a Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for the offense of reckless homicide. R. 625 - 626. Appellant was tried before the Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin and a jury, from October 14 – 17, 2019. R. 1. John Tate and Rhodes Bailey represented Appellant. R. 1. Carter Potts and Richard Cathcart represented the State. R. 1.

Appellant was convicted as indicted and he was sentenced to eight years' imprisonment. R. 570, ll. 13-19; R. 582, ll. 1-3.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling. The appellate court will reverse only when there is clear error.

*State v. Wright*, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). This deference does not bar appellate courts from conducting their own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence. *State v. Tindall*, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010).

On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, the appellate court reviews questions of law de novo. *State v. Bash*, 419 S.C. 263, 268, 797 S.E.2d 721, 723–24 (2017). The existence of binding appellate precedent is a pure question of law and is reviewed de novo. *See State v. Brown*, 401 S.C. 82, 93-96, 736 S.E.2d 263, 268-70 (2012).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred where it admitted evidence obtained pursuant to a search warrant where the affiant relied on information from another officer, and where the search warrant affidavit and affiant's supplemental testimony were imprecise and conclusory, since the magistrate lacked sufficient information to determine probable cause.

In this three-car crash, the affidavit and supplemental testimony for the search warrant seeking data from Appellant's truck alleged insufficient facts to support the magistrate's finding of probable cause. Without specifying that Appellant was suspected of a crime and without specifying that it was his vehicle that crossed the center line, the affidavit and supplemental testimony did not show that it was likely any evidence of a crime would be found in Appellant's truck. Additionally, because the affiant got all of his information second and third-hand, he was required to give the magistrate information upon which the magistrate could determine the veracity and basis of knowledge of the affiant's sources of information in order for the magistrate to find probable cause.

### *Relevant facts*

#### *The wreck*

William Carroll (Decedent) died from injuries he sustained in a car wreck about one month after the wreck. R. 282, l. 16 – 283, l. 2. On January 24, 2015, Decedent was the passenger in a Chevy Tahoe being driven down Forest Drive by his daughter when the Chevy was hit head-on by Appellant's Ford F-150 truck. R. 149, ll. 16-22; R. 155, ll. 1-6; R. 358, ll. 16-18; R. 584.

Appellant's Ford was traveling in the opposite direction from the Chevy when the Ford hit George Anderson's Toyota Camry as it was making a left turn out of Trader Joe's. After

hitting Anderson's Toyota, Appellant's Ford struck Decedent's Chevy. R. 373, l. 21 – 378, l. 18; R. 285, l. 6 – 286, l. 6; R. 166, l. 10 – 167, l. 19. Initially, the drivers of two out of the three cars involved were ticketed: Anderson was ticketed for failure to yield and Appellant was ticketed for reckless driving. R. 377, l. 22 – 378, l. 18.

### *The search warrant*

However, after Decedent passed away, Russell Shumard of the Forest Acres Police Department contacted the South Carolina Highway Patrol's MAIT team (Multi-Disciplinary Accident Investigation Team) and MAIT recommended Shumard obtain search warrants so that it could retrieve data from the cars. R. 51, ll. 5-11; R. 53, l. 14 – 54, l. 13. Shumard simultaneously sought and received a search warrant for all three vehicles from a Lexington County magistrate since the cars had been towed to salvage yards in Lexington County. R. 54, l. 14 – 55, l. 6. At the time he sought the search warrants, Shumard did not know who was responsible for the accident. Shumard sought the search warrants to investigate rather than to confirm. R. 59, l. 4 – 60, l. 11.

After obtaining a search warrant for Appellant's Ford truck, Shumard went to the salvage yard and seized from Appellant's truck an airbag control mechanism (ACM). R. 61, ll. 6-10. MAIT inspected the ACM and based on its data, concluded that Appellant was traveling seventy-seven miles an hour a few seconds before the crash. R. 431, ll. 11-14. The speed limit was thirty-five miles per hour on that stretch of road. R. 111, ll. 19-20.

The search warrant affidavit for Appellant's truck provided as follows.

On 1/24/2015 at 1518 hours the above described vehicle was involved in a traffic collision on SC-12, within the City of Forest Acres, which involved 3 vehicles. The 2009 Ford Pick-up was traveling East on SC-12 when a 1996 Toyota pulled out into it's [sic] right of way. The Ford struck the above vehicle and subsequently struck a West bound 2001 Chevy Tahoe occupied by

a William Carroll, W/M DOB: [redacted], who recently succumbed to his injuries sustained in this accident. An inspection of the above listed vehicle and data retrieved from it would assist the South Carolina Highway Patrol — MAIT and the Forest Acres Police department in determining the speed of the vehicles at impact along with the sequence of events of the collision.

R. 611.

***Motion to suppress***

Defense counsel filed a written suppression motion regarding the seized evidence prior to trial and argued the search warrant’s deficient affidavit required suppression of the ACM evidence. R. 614. The court heard the motion pretrial. Defense counsel argued that pursuant to U.S. CONST. amend. IV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; and S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140, the fruits of the search warrant should be suppressed. R. 41, ll. 9-13; R. 47, ll. 8-14. A copy of the search warrant as well as documents from the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles (which showed Appellant owned the truck) were entered into the record as Defendant’s Exhibits #1 and #2. R. 584; R. 611.

Defense counsel first argued that Appellant did have standing to object to the search warrant and that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the truck since he still owned the truck when the search warrant was issued. R. 42, l. 11 – 43, l. 2.

Defense counsel next argued the search warrant affidavit “fail[ed] as to specificity,” because it did not allege a crime was committed, it did not allege Appellant committed a crime, and the affidavit provided the magistrate with no basis of knowledge for or veracity of the affiant’s information. R. 43, l. 3 – 45, l. 25. Defense counsel noted that, “a magistrate must be able to determine from the affidavit or oral testimony that—where the information came from. Who said what, because part of the judge’s job is judging the veracity of the information. Nothing in here is attributed to anyone.” R. 45, ll. 15-19. Defense counsel cited *State v. Weston*,

*State v. Johnson*, *State v. Smith*, *State v. Thompson*, and *Illinois v. Gates*<sup>1</sup> in support of his argument.

Defense counsel further argued the deficient search warrant should not be saved by the “good faith exception,” since “no reasonable police officer could read this affidavit and believe that it is a sufficient warrant.” R. 46, l. 1 – 47, l. 2.

The court then heard testimony from Investigator Shumard of the Forest Acres Police Department. Shumard testified he had been with the Forest Acres Police Department for twenty-six years and was friendly with the Lexington County Magistrate. R. 49, ll. 19-22; R. 55, ll. 20-22. Shumard said he had been to the crime scene on the day of the offense, said he also talked to the responding officer, Officer McKenzie, and said he had read “the reports.” R. 50, l. 23 – 51, l. 22.

Shumard applied for a search warrant for all three cars involved in the wreck at the same time. R. 54, ll. 14-23. Shumard testified that he was sworn and told the magistrate there had been a “major collision” about a month before, and that one vehicle “was reported to be driving recklessly and that another vehicle had pulled out in front of that vehicle and that the driver who was driving reckless swerved and hit and oncoming car, in which—an occupant met their demise. And showed him my three search warrants and he signed off on them.” R. 55, l. 23 – 56, l. 15. The solicitor asked Shumard if he sought the search warrant to help figure out who did what, and Shumard said that he had. R. 60, ll. 7-11. Shumard testified that he had taken photographs of the crash scene but that “any statements” were obtained after he applied for the search warrant rather than before. R. 62, l. 24 – 63, l. 18.

---

<sup>1</sup> *State v. Weston*, 329 S.C. 287, 494 S.E.2d 801 (1997); *State v. Johnson*, 302 S.C. 243, 395 S.E.2d 167 (1990); *State v. Smith*, 301 S.C. 371, 392 S.E.2d 182 (1990); *State v. Thompson*, 149 S.C. 250, 797 S.E.2d 716 (2017); *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213 (1983).

At the conclusion of the testimony, defense counsel reiterated that the oral testimony to supplement the affidavit only provided the magistrate with “conclusions, not facts,” such that the magistrate was unable to make an independent determination of probable cause. R. 70, l. 8 – 72, l. 13.

The solicitor argued Appellant did not have standing to challenge the search warrant since he “gave power of attorney” for the truck to State Farm prior to the issuance of the warrant. R. 48, ll. 4-14. The solicitor also argued that the caselaw cited by defense counsel about veracity did not apply because Shumard “went there, saw it with his own eyes,” and there was “[s]omething he observed himself.” R. 72, l. 14 – 73, l. 19.

The solicitor also said that Shumard did not go to the magistrate claiming that Appellant “caused anything,” but only that the police “were trying to figure out what happened.” R. 72, ll. 23-25.

The court ruled that Appellant had standing to challenge the search warrant because the title to the car was still in his name. R. 69, l. 24 – 70, l. 4. The court also ruled that based on the “totality of the circumstances,” including the oral testimony that supplemented the affidavit, “the statements are coming from the officer. In terms of reliability, it’s based on personal observation of what he saw. He did not witness the accident, but what he saw when he got there.” R. 74, l. 19 – 75, l. 3. “Also, I believe he testified there — that witness statements — to — that he — regarding driving, the driving of the vehicle by the defendant.” R. 75, ll. 3-6. The court found there was a “substantial basis” for the magistrate to find probable cause to issue the search warrant. R. 74, ll. 6-10.

However, the matter was not yet settled because Shumard spoke with the solicitor during a break and said he was mistaken in his testimony—he remembered he did not go the scene of

the collision on the day it occurred. R. 144, l. 12 – 145, l. 22. According to the solicitor, although Shumard did go to the scene at some point days afterwards, he relied on what he was told by Officer McKenzie when he spoke the magistrate to get the warrants. R. 145, ll. 11-17. Therefore, the court reconsidered defense counsel’s suppression motion and heard more argument from the parties.

The additional argument took place at pages 225 – 243 of the trial transcript. R. 191 - 209. Defense counsel argued that without personal knowledge on the part of the affiant, the information provided to the magistrate was insufficient. R. 194, l. 11 – 195, l. 15. Defense counsel also noted that interviews with witnesses who claimed they saw Appellant speeding did not take place until after the search warrant was secured, and that Shumard never visited the scene until after he got the search warrant either. R. 196, l. 8 – 198, l. 6; R. 203, ll. 14-17.

The solicitor responded that prior to seeking the search warrant, Shumard had spoken with Officer McKenzie, the officer who wrote Appellant and Anderson (the driver of the Toyota) tickets for reckless driving and failure to yield. R. 199, ll. 9-21.

The court ruled the search warrant was permissible after reconsidering the motion to suppress. R. 209, l. 17 – 213, l. 24. The court ruled the magistrate could have determined there was a fair probability that evidence of a crime would be found, and that the veracity of Shumard was a sufficient basis for the magistrate to do so. R. 213, ll. 4-24.

### ***Fruits of the search warrant***

At trial, several motorists who were traveling on Forest Drive the day of the wreck testified that Appellant traveled at a startling speed just prior to the crash, and there was testimony that Appellant had been “weaving in and out of traffic.” R. 128, ll. 1-23; R. 136, l. 25 – 137, l. 15. One motorist said Appellant’s truck was traveling “interstate speed” prior to the

crash. R. 117, ll. 11-16. Another estimated the truck's speed at sixty-five or seventy miles an hour. R. 122, l. 10. However, testimony about the airbag control monitor seized from Appellant's truck was the only expert testimony about Appellant's speed as well as the only testimony that conclusively established his speed at a firm number.

Shumard and Sergeant Calvin Rikard of the Highway Patrol's MAIT unit testified that they were present when the search warrant was served on Appellant's truck. R. 398, ll. 19-20; R. 337, ll. 6-19. Sergeant Rikard was qualified as an expert in collision reconstruction and ACM technology and retrieval. R. 395, ll. 16-24. Sergeant Rikard was an impressive expert witness who demonstrated extensive knowledge of airbag control module systems and his testimony comprised nearly one hundred pages of the six-hundred-page trial transcript. R. 391 – 479. Rikard opined that the type of data upon which he relied in this case, ACM data, was "extremely accurate," "constantly getting validated," was "more than peer reviewed," and was heavily scrutinized. R. 419, ll. 4-23.

Rikard testified that he personally examined Appellant's truck and retrieved the data from the truck's airbag control module. R. 401, ll. 15-18. Rikard opined that per his examination of the ACM, five seconds prior to crashing into the first vehicle (the Toyota), Appellant's truck was travelling seventy-seven miles per hour. R. 431, ll. 11-14. Rikard said that Appellant then began "standing on the brakes" for about one second before crashing into the second vehicle (the Chevy) at forty-four miles per hour. R. 435, ll. 17-19; R. 438, ll. 5-8; R. 439, ll. 8-13.

Rikard concluded that Appellant's speed of seventy-seven miles per hour in a thirty-five mile per hour zone was the cause of the collision. R. 447, l. 8 – 454, l. 25. According to Rikard, had Appellant been traveling the speed limit, the Toyota would have had time to pull out and

make its turn, and the truck's resulting collisions with the Toyota and with the Chevy would not have occurred. R. 454, ll. 14-25.

Appellant was convicted of reckless homicide and was sentenced to eight years in prison. R. 570, ll. 13-19; R. 582, ll. 1-4.

### ***Discussion***

As seen, defense counsel argued the search and seizure violated both Appellant's constitutional rights and statutory rights. In terms of standing, for constitutional purposes Appellant had standing to challenge the search warrant since he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his truck. A person may have a reasonable expectation of privacy in his property that is protected by the Fourth Amendment. *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967); U.S. CONST. amend. IV. The Fourth Amendment applies to the states via the Fourteenth Amendment. *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643 (1961).

A person generally has a lessened expectation of privacy in an automobile due to the characteristics and use of an automobile but he may nevertheless possess a constitutionally protected privacy interest in one. *New York v. Class*, 475 U.S. 106, 112–13 (1986). Here, Appellant established (and the trial court properly found) that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his truck. A person's expectation of privacy, for purposes of Fourth Amendment, is legitimate if it is one that society is prepared to recognize as "reasonable." *Minnesota v. Olson*, 495 U.S. 91, 95-96 (1990) (quoting *Rakas v. Illinois*, 439 U.S. 128, 143 (1978)). Appellant's expectation of privacy here was reasonable since he owned the truck. The search warrant was issued on February 27, 2015 and Appellant did not sell the truck to State Farm until March 24, 2015, and the new title was issued on April 6, 2015. *See* Defendant's Exhibit #1. R. 584.

For statutory purposes, however, Appellant had standing to suppress the evidence seized by execution of the search warrant regardless of any reasonable privacy interest simply because the State sought to admit the evidence against him. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 provides, in part, that

Any magistrate or recorder or city judge having the powers of magistrates, or any judge of any court of record of the State having jurisdiction over the area where the property sought is located, may issue a search warrant to search for and seize (1) stolen or embezzled property; (2) property, the possession of which is unlawful; (3) property which is being used or has been used in the commission of a criminal offense or is possessed with the intent to be used as the means for committing a criminal offense or is concealed to prevent a criminal offense from being discovered; (4) property constituting evidence of crime or tending to show that a particular person committed a criminal offense; (5) any narcotic drugs, barbiturates, amphetamines or other drugs restricted to sale, possession, or use on prescription only, which are manufactured, possessed, controlled, sold, prescribed, administered, dispensed or compounded in violation of any of the laws of this State or of the United States . . .

The property described in this section, or any part thereof, may be seized from any place where such property may be located, or from the person, possession or control of any person who shall be found to have such property in his possession or under his control.

A warrant issued hereunder shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record establishing the grounds for the warrant. If the magistrate, municipal judge, or other judicial officer abovementioned is satisfied that the grounds for the application exist or that there is probable cause to believe that they exist, he shall issue a warrant identifying the property and naming or describing the person or place to be searched . . .

In *State v. McKnight*, 291 S.C. 110, 115, 352 S.E.2d 471, 473-74 (1987), the South Carolina Supreme Court explained that on the one hand, a defendant must show a legitimate expectation of privacy to suppress evidence on Fourth Amendment grounds but, “[o]n the other hand, the rights afforded by Section 17-13-140 are not dependent upon a showing of an

expectation of privacy in the searched premises.” The Supreme Court explained that because the “primary benefit of the statute is to the person arrested or searched . . . one contesting the legality of a search because of a defect under Section 17-13-140 need only show that the State is attempting to introduce the evidence against him.” *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). Appellant therefore had standing to challenge the search warrant’s issuance under § 17-13-140 because the State sought to admit the fruits of the warrant against him.

Here, the trial court correctly found Appellant had standing to challenge the issuance of the search warrant but incorrectly found there was a substantial basis for the magistrate to determine probable cause. R. 74, l. 19 – 75, l. 10; R. 209, l. 17 – 213, l. 24.

The search warrant should have been suppressed pursuant to the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution; S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; and S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 because the warrant, even when supplemented by Shumard’s testimony to the magistrate, failed to establish probable cause for the search. Probable cause is defined as “the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act.” *Brinegar v. United States*, 338 U.S. 160, 175 (1949). Probable cause “mean[s] more than bare suspicion.” *Id.*

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