**RECEIVED**

**Mar 02 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County  
Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JOE LEWIS BUSBY,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001796

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BYRON GIPSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192  
Columbia, S.C. 29202-1987  
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**Police officers are allowed to rely on information provided from fellow police officers to support probable cause. The affidavit in support of the search warrant and supporting sworn testimony from the affiant established appellant's vehicle was involved in a collision resulting in death after two traffic violations occurred among the three vehicles involved in the accident, including a vehicle crossing into oncoming traffic. Therefore, a substantial basis existed for the magistrate to believe there was a fair probability evidence of a crime would be found in the seized vehicle and the other vehicles involved in the accident. Further, Appellant lacked a reasonable expectation of privacy in the vehicle because physical possession was relinquished to an auto salvage yard and Appellant granted the power to dispose of the vehicle and its title to the insurance company.**

Appellant claims the magistrate lacked a substantial basis to find a fair probability that evidence of a crime would be found in the F-150 Appellant drove when the fatal collision occurred. However, the affidavit alleged the victim died as a result of an accident in which two traffic violations occurred, including a vehicle crossing into oncoming traffic. Therefore, that information alone supplies a fair probability that evidence of a crime would be found in the F150, one of the two vehicles involved in the head-on collision. Further, Appellant did not have an expectation of privacy in the F-150 because it was in physical possession of an auto salvage yard and Appellant assigned the right to dispose of the vehicle and its title to the insurance company. Finally, the evidence obtained from the search of the vehicle was cumulative to testimony provided by eyewitnesses and other evidence of guilt was overwhelming. For instance, three eyewitnesses to the crime observed Appellant's F-150 driving recklessly and at an unconscionable speed as it fatally collided with the victims' vehicle.

### **How the issue arose at trial**

During the motion to suppress, defense counsel argued Appellant retained an expectation of privacy in the F-150, even though the vehicle was at a salvage yard, because title was not yet transferred from Appellant's name. Defense counsel averred that title was not transferred to the insurance company until after the search. The salvage title was not issued until August 25, 2015. R. pp. 42-43.

Defense counsel further alleged that the affidavit was insufficient to allege a crime had occurred. Defense counsel argued there was no nexus with Appellant's F-150 except that it stated the F-150 was involved in a traffic accident. R. p. 45. Defense counsel further complained the magistrate would be unable to know the source of information in the affidavit. R. p. 45.

In response, the prosecution noted that on February 19, 2015, prior to the search warrant being issued, Appellant assigned power of attorney for the vehicle over to the insurance company and endorsed the insurance company to transfer title and control the disposition of the vehicle. Accordingly, the prosecution believed that Appellant did not retain an expectation of privacy in the vehicle. R. p. 48.

Investigator Shumard from the City of Forest Acres Police Department was called as the sole witness during the suppression hearing. He originally testified he went to the scene of the accident the day of the accident and saw some of the damage, but he would later inform the prosecutor that this recollection was incorrect and the prosecutor informed the trial court of the mistake. R. p. 51; pp. 144-45. Subsequently, a passenger in the struck vehicle passed away, and the case became an investigation of a reckless homicide. R. p. 51. Citations were issued to the driver of the Toyota for failure to yield and to Appellant for reckless driving. R. pp. 51-52.

Investigator Shumard conferred with a member of MAIT, who recommended seeking search warrants for all three vehicles for the data stored in the vehicle modules. R. pp. 53-54. After reviewing reports of the accident and speaking with Officer McKenzie – the officer on the scene of the accident – Investigator Shumard obtained search warrants for all three vehicles at the same time from the magistrate in Lexington County, where the vehicles were all located. Investigator Shumard presented the affidavit for the search warrant and provided additional information to the magistrate. R. pp. 55-56. He later agreed with the prosecutor that he told the magistrate he was looking for the control module in the F-150. R. p. 61.

Investigator Shumard noted that failure to yield is a crime, and that crossing the center line of a road is a crime. R. p. 58. Investigator Shumard also testified that speed appeared to be a factor in the collision. R. p. 59. Investigator Shumard testified the basis of the information in the affidavit was his investigation and Officer McKenzie’s investigation. R. p. 61.

The trial court found there was standing for Appellant because “the car was not transferred, still in his name, title was still in his name. It was not transferred to State Farm at the time of the search warrant – at the time the search warrant was issued.” R. p. 69, line 24 – p. 70, line 4. As discussed later in the brief, because the trial court’s ruling concerning whether Appellant held an expectation of privacy was premised solely on title to the vehicle, the trial court committed an error of law in finding Appellant held an expectation of privacy in the F-150.

Defense counsel then argued the magistrate lacked a substantial basis to find probable cause, complaining that Investigator Shumard’s statements to the magistrate that there was a major collision and that Appellant was driving recklessly were conclusory statements. R. pp. 71-72. In response, the prosecutor noted that defense counsel was relying on cases involving informants. In

the present case, the prosecutor noted, a crime occurred. The prosecutor explained, “[I]t was a tragic wreck in which somebody went left of center. Again, that’s a crime. There’s two cars on one lane. Somebody crossed the center line.” R. p. 72, lines 14-23. The trial court found a substantial basis for the search warrants. R. pp. 74-75.

During a break in the testimony, the prosecutors informed the trial court that Investigator Shumard approached the prosecutors and told the prosecutors he realized his in camera testimony the previous day was incorrect. Investigator Shumard did take pictures at the accident scene, but he later realized the day he took the pictures was not a Saturday and the accident occurred on a Saturday. He did not work that Saturday. The prosecution noted they disclosed this to defense counsel and thought it was important to bring up to the trial court as well. R. pp. 144-45.

The prosecution further explained the only thing that was incorrect was Investigator Shumard’s appearance at the scene and further explained as follows: “Everything else he testified to as to relying upon the work of Officer McKenzie and Forest Acres Police Department, investigating this crime, that’s what he report [sic] – what he told [the magistrate] and before the – during the affidavit of the search warrant was all correct.” R. p. 145, lines 11-17.

Defense counsel requested the trial court to revisit its ruling as a result of the correction. Defense counsel essentially re-raised the points argued pre-trial. In response, the prosecution noted the affidavit made out three violations of law: (1) the collision itself, (2) the crossing of the center line,<sup>1</sup> and (3) the failure to yield the right of way.<sup>2</sup> He noted the purpose of the search warrant was to determine what caused the three violations of the law. R. p. 198. He noted upon

---

<sup>1</sup> See S.C. Code § 56-5-1810.

<sup>2</sup> See S.C. Code § 56-5-2350.

Victim's death, the crime was now reckless homicide. R. pp. 198-99.

The prosecution reminded the trial court that Investigator Shumard testified he familiarized himself with the incident and spoke with Officer MacKenzie, who was at the scene and talked with witnesses, before attaining the search warrant. R. p. 199. The prosecution further explained:

The case law that [defense counsel] cited back then, and the case law . . . , it's about informants. It's about how to know the reliability of . . . what occurred on conclusory items based upon what an informant said [with] no indication as to the reliability of the informant. This is completely different, and now we're talking about law enforcement people . . . or investigation as to what occurred. Investigator Shumard testified that he told Judge Dooley why he was there, what they had been investigating, and gave a basis as to what the incident was, and then swore as to the crimes that were committed – the affidavit that's inside the warrant. Each of the steps he made were proper as to developing probable cause for a warrant. This thing happened.

According to the Officer McKenzie and his report, which has Joe Busby's license number, his ID and that he was diving 55 with a diagram of the incident is what [is] considered. . . .

R. p. 200, lines 6-24. The prosecution later noted the cases defense counsel relied on were about the reliability of non-law enforcement witnesses as the basis of the affidavit. R. p. 203, lines 21-24. The trial court noted it had read the affidavit about ten times during the 35-40 minute in camera discussion. R. p. 210. The trial court noted it replayed testimony from the day before and observed that Investigator Shumard testified it was Officer McKenzie's investigation that led Investigator Shumard to seek the search warrants. R. pp. 212-13. The trial court then found there was a substantial basis for the magistrate based on the affidavit and the investigator's supplemental testimony to find that there was a fair probability that evidence of crime would be found in the vehicles. R. p. 213, lines 4-24.

**No expectation of privacy in a totaled vehicle that was relinquished to a scrapyard**

Law enforcement should be encouraged to seek search warrants, even out of an abundance of caution. However, in the present case, Appellant did not have an expectation in his totaled vehicle that was physically located and in the physical possession of the auto salvage business. Additionally, Appellant relinquished dominion and control over the vehicle, assigning the matter of the disposition of the vehicle and its title to the insurance company. The inescapable conclusion is Appellant had forsaken his interest in the vehicle with no intention of recovering it. He had abandoned his expectation of privacy in the vehicle.

“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). There is no privacy interest in abandoned property. Hester v. United States, 265 U.S. 57, 58 (1924) (finding that containers dropped by moonshiners while being pursued by law enforcement that did not have an adequate warrant were not protected under Fourth Amendment as there was no seizure of the containers, rather, the containers were abandoned). Therefore, our Supreme Court recognized that the abandonment doctrine is an exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement. State v. Dupree, 319 S.C. 454, 457, 462 S.E.2d 279, 281 (1995). The Supreme Court quoted favorably case law that made the following observations:

The distinction between abandonment in the property-law sense and abandonment in the constitutional sense is critical to a proper analysis of the issue. In the law of property, the question . . . is whether owner has voluntarily, intentionally, and unconditionally relinquished his interest in the property so that another, having acquired possession, may successfully assert his superior interest. . . . In the law of search and seizure, however, the question is whether the defendant has, in discarding the property, relinquished his reasonable expectation of privacy so that its seizure and search is reasonable within the limits of the Fourth Amendment. In essence, what is abandoned is not necessarily the defendant’s property, but his reasonable expectation of privacy therein.

Id. (quoting City of St. Paul v. Vaughn, 237 N.W.2d 365, 370-71 (Minn. 1975)).

“Under a standard abandonment analysis, the question is whether the defendant has, in discarding the property, relinquished his reasonable expectation of privacy.” State v. Brown, 423 S.C. 519, 815 S.E.2d 761 (2018) (finding defendant did not retain a reasonable expectation of digital information on his cell phone after he left the phone at the scene of the burglary and cancelled service for the phone with no indication of intent to recover the cell phone) (quoting Dupree, 319 S.C. at 457, 462 S.E.2d at 281).

In the instant case, the vehicle was left at an auto-salvage yard. Further, Appellant assigned to an insurance company the ability to transfer title and dispose of the vehicle as the insurance company pleased. Nothing in the record indicates Appellant intended to recover the vehicle and law enforcement objectively could believe Appellant abandoned his interest in the vehicle. Accordingly, Appellant did not retain a privacy interest in the vehicle and therefore, was not entitled to Fourth Amendment protection of the data stored in the vehicle.

Instructive is Commonwealth v. Sero, 387 A.2d 63 (Pa. 1978), in which law enforcement obtained the murder defendant’s car after he gave it away to one of his employees. The defendant claimed a search warrant should have been procured to seize the vehicle. The employee testified that the night of the shooting, the defendant gave him the vehicle because the defendant, “never wanted to be in that car again, he never wanted to ride in it again, he didn’t want anything to do with it.” The Pennsylvania Supreme Court found the defendant intended and did abandon control of the car. The Court noted, “That legal title had not been transferred is not determinative of the legality of this search. The test for abandonment is whether the complaining party could retain a reasonable expectation of privacy in the property allegedly abandoned.” Id. at 69 (citations

omitted).

In the present case, Appellant failed to retain an expectation of privacy. The trial court failed to take in account that title to the vehicle was not dispositive of whether Appellant retained an expectation of privacy and no evidence supports a finding that Appellant did retain an expectation of privacy.

**Appellant does not make out a statutory violation**

Appellant seeks to circumvent the lack of an expectation of privacy by recasting the Fourth Amendment issue raised as a statutory compliance issue under S.C. Code §17-13-140. However, regardless of whether the magistrate had a substantial basis to find probable cause, law enforcement followed the statute and therefore, no statutory violation occurred.

S.C. Code §17-13-140 requires, in relevant part:

A warrant issued hereunder shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record establishing the grounds for the warrant. If the magistrate, municipal judge, or other judicial officer abovementioned is satisfied that the grounds for the application exist or that there is probable cause to believe that they exist, he shall issue a warrant identifying the property and naming or describing the person or place to be searched. In the case of a warrant issued by a magistrate or a judge of a court of record, it shall be directed to any peace officer having jurisdiction in the county where issued, including members of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, and shall be returnable to the issuing magistrate. . . .

Appellant relies on State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.C. 471 (1987). However, in that case, the officer failed to follow the clear requirements of section 17-13-140 because the officer failed to provide an affidavit in support of the warrant as required by section 17-13-140. In this case, law enforcement did provide an affidavit along with the investigator's oral statements

to the magistrate. See also State v. Woods, 376 S.C. 125, 128-29, 654 S.E.2d 867, 869 (Ct. App. 2007) (finding order for blood, hair, and saliva samples improperly issued under section 17-13-140 because the officer did not provide an affidavit and was not placed under oath by the circuit court judge).

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